A new pH-responsive peptide tag for protein purification

TAKAHIRO NONAKA

February 2019

A new pH-responsive peptide tag for protein purification

TAKAHIRO NONAKA

Doctoral Program in Applied Physics

Submitted to the Graduate School of Pure and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering

> at the University of Tsukuba

Contents

| Chapter 1. General Introduction | 1 |
|--|--------|
| 1.1. Overview of method for protein production | 1 |
| 1.2. Challenges for protein purification | 1 |
| 1.3. Strategy for development of new purification tag | 2 |
| 1.4. Objective of this thesis | 2 |
| 1.5. References | 3 |
| Chapter 2. Development of A New pH-Responsive Peptide Tag for Protein Purification | 6 |
| 2.1. Introduction | 6 |
| 2.2. Materials and Methods | 7 |
| 2.3. Results | 9 |
| 2.4. Discussion | 14 |
| 2.5. Conclusion | 17 |
| 2.6. References | 17 |
| Chapter 3. Non-Chromatographic Protein Purification with A pH-Responsive CspB Ta | ıg22 |
| 3.1. Introduction | 22 |
| 3.2. Materials and Methods | 23 |
| 3.3. Results | 27 |
| 3.4. Discussion | 33 |
| 3.5. Conclusion | 34 |
| 3.6. References | 35 |
| Chapter 4. Effect of Small Additives for pH-Responsive Behavior of CspB Fusion Prote | ein.39 |
| 4.1. Introduction | 39 |
| 4.2. Materials and Methods | 39 |
| 4.3. Results | 41 |

| 4.4. Discussion | |
|-------------------------------|----|
| 4.5. Conclusion | 44 |
| 4.6. References | 44 |
| Chapter 5. General discussion | |
| Chapter 6. General Conclusion | |
| List of Publications | |
| | |

Chapter 1. General Introduction

1.1. Overview of method for protein production

Proteins having a variety of functions are widely utilized for commercial uses such as pharmaceutical products [1] and industrial enzymes [2], and also for research uses in which proteins are used to elucidate various biological phenomena. Thus, proteins are substances essential in improvements in quality of life and scientific advancements. As means for producing these various proteins in large quantities at a low cost with a high reproducibility, techniques for producing proteins using recombinant organisms and techniques for purifying the proteins have been developed. The techniques for producing proteins using recombinant organisms utilize animal cells [3] and microorganisms [4]. The animal cells used include Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) cells, while the microorganisms used include *Escherichia coli*, yeasts [5], and so on. For example, there is a protein secretory production system using *Corynebacterium glutamicum* (hereinafter may be abbreviated as *C. glutamicum*) as the microorganism [6–8]. Main methods for purifying proteins produced by recombinant organisms include a method utilizing properties of a protein itself, and a method by adding a few amino acid sequence, called purification tag, used for purification to a protein and utilizing properties of the purification tag.

1.2. Challenges for protein purification

The method utilizing properties of a protein itself includes chromatography and liquid-solid separation [9]. The chromatography uses chromatographic matrixes having various properties. The chromatography utilizes an interaction between a protein and a chromatographic matrix [8], or the molecular sieving effect of the chromatographic matrix [10]. The interaction between a protein and a chromatographic matrix includes electrostatic interaction, hydrogen bond, hydrophobic interaction, specific interaction [11]. The liquid-solid separation is a separation method including: insolubilizing (i.e., making solid) a protein in a solubilized state by changing the solution conditions, obtaining a solid component by a simple process such as centrifugation, and bringing the separated solid component into a solubilized state again. Specific examples of the means for insolubilizing the protein include isoelectric point precipitation [12], salting out [13], precipitation using an organic solvent [14], precipitation using a water-soluble polymer. The isoelectric point precipitation utilizes a property in which the solubility of a protein becomes lowest at an isoelectric point thereof. The salting out, the precipitation using an organic solvent, and the precipitation using a water-soluble polymer utilize a property in which the solubility of a protein is decreased in the presence of the salt, the organic solvent, or the water-soluble polymer [15], each of which is at a high concentration. Another insolubilizing means is protein aggregation [16–18]. The protein aggregation may be particularly effective means when it is possible to select

conditions for aggregating a protein other than a protein to be purified while leaving the protein to be purified in a solubilized state. In order to overcome these problems, additional sequences having various properties, namely purification tags, have been developed [19].

The method by adding a purification tag used for purification to a protein and utilizing properties of the purification tag includes a method utilizing properties of the purification tag itself, and a method utilizing an interaction between the purification tag and a substance immobilized on the matrix. In the method utilizing an interaction between the purification tag and a substance immobilized on matrix, the substance is often disposed on a chromatographic matrix [11,19–21]. The interaction between the purification tag and the substance other than the tag includes electrostatic interaction, hydrogen bond, hydrophobic interaction, specific interaction [22].

Now, many kinds of purification tags and immobilized affinity ligands are commercially available; however, the scale-up of affinity chromatography can represent a major cost in the production of the final protein product at the industrial scale. So, new peptide tags are in demand for use in costless and simple methods for protein purification.

1.3. Strategy for development of new purification tag

The elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) tag is a widely used tag for non-chromatographic purification of several proteins, including calmodulin, catalase, and thioredoxin [23–25]. The ELP tag comprises thermally responsive polypeptides that undergo reversible aggregation above an intrinsic transition temperature (Tt), and this aggregation is caused by hydrophobic interaction [20–22]. ELP fusion proteins are soluble in aqueous solutions below Tt, whereas they form aggregates when the temperature is raised above Tt. The aggregation (precipitation) process of ELP fusion proteins is fully reversible. Accordingly, the precipitation–redissolution cycle of the ELP fusion protein controlled by temperature can be used for purification without the need for chromatography. However, the typical Tt of the ELP tag is 30°C–40°C, which may causes irreversible unfolding of heat-labile proteins. On the other hand, this type of purification tag for non-chromatographic purification tag which can undergo reversible aggregation according to the environmental condition change by using cell surface protein B (CspB) which known as self-assembled protein in nature [26–28].

1.4. Objective of this thesis

This thesis investigated the development of a new purification tag for protein purification. Chapter 2 describes a newly developed CspB-tag which insolubilizes-solubilizes in response to pH. Chapter 3 describes development of production process for pharmaceutical protein using CspB-tag. Chapter 4 describes an effect of small additive on the pH response behavior of CspB fusion protein. Subsequently, chapter 5 and chapter 6 present the overview and discussion of this thesis including the future work to be studied.

1.5. References

- B.G. de la Torre, F. Albericio, The Pharmaceutical Industry in 2017. An Analysis of FDA Drug Approvals from the Perspective of Molecules, Mol. J. Synth. Chem. Nat. Prod. Chem. 23 (2018). doi:10.3390/molecules23030533.
- [2] M. Kieliszek, A. Misiewicz, Microbial transglutaminase and its application in the food industry. A review, Folia Microbiol. (Praha). 59 (2014) 241–250. doi:10.1007/s12223-013-0287-x.
- [3] T. Omasa, M.O. and W.-D. Kim, Cell Engineering and Cultivation of Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO)
 Cells, Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. (2010). http://www.eurekaselect.com/70952/article (accessed January 16, 2019).
- [4] A.L. Demain, P. Vaishnav, Production of recombinant proteins by microbes and higher organisms, Biotechnol. Adv. 27 (2009) 297–306. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.01.008.
- [5] D. Mattanovich, P. Branduardi, L. Dato, B. Gasser, M. Sauer, D. Porro, Recombinant Protein Production in Yeasts, in: A. Lorence (Ed.), Recomb. Gene Expr., Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2012: pp. 329–358. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-433-9_17.
- [6] M. Date, K. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Y. Kikuchi, High level expression of Streptomyces mobaraensis transglutaminase in Corynebacterium glutamicum using a chimeric pro-region from Streptomyces cinnamoneus transglutaminase, J. Biotechnol. 110 (2004) 219–226. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2004.02.011.
- Y. Kikuchi, H. Itaya, M. Date, K. Matsui, L.-F. Wu, TatABC Overexpression Improves Corynebacterium glutamicum Tat-Dependent Protein Secretion, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75 (2009) 603–607. doi:10.1128/AEM.01874-08.
- [8] M. Shinagawa, N. Shimba, T. Mizukoshi, N. Arashida, N. Yamada, Y. Kikuchi, E. Suzuki, High expression with Corynebacterium glutamicum for nuclear magnetic resonance sample preparation, Anal. Biochem. 344 (2005) 281–283. doi:10.1016/j.ab.2005.05.024.
- [9] E. Watanabe, S. Tsoka, J.A. Asenjo, Selection of Chromatographic Protein Purification Operations Based on Physicochemical Propertiesa, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 721 (1994) 348–364. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1994.tb47407.x.

- [10] C. Oliveira, L. Domingues, Guidelines to reach high-quality purified recombinant proteins, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 102 (2018) 81–92. doi:10.1007/s00253-017-8623-8.
- [11] X. Zhao, G. Li, S. Liang, Several Affinity Tags Commonly Used in Chromatographic Purification, J.
 Anal. Methods Chem. 2013 (2013) 1–8. doi:10.1155/2013/581093.
- [12] S. Luo, B. Zhang, Dextrose-mediated aggregation of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies in human plasma: Implication of isoelectric precipitation of complement proteins, MAbs. 7 (2015) 1094–1103. doi:10.1080/19420862.2015.1087636.
- [13] M. Saraswat, L. Musante, A. Ravidá, B. Shortt, B. Byrne, H. Holthofer, Preparative Purification of Recombinant Proteins: Current Status and Future Trends, BioMed Res. Int. 2013 (2013). doi:10.1155/2013/312709.
- [14] D. Hekmat, Large-scale crystallization of proteins for purification and formulation, Bioprocess Biosyst.
 Eng. 38 (2015) 1209–1231. doi:10.1007/s00449-015-1374-y.
- [15] K.C. Ingham, Protein precipitation with polyethylene glycol, Methods Enzymol. 104 (1984) 351–356.
- [16] K. Shiraki, M. Kudou, S. Fujiwara, T. Imanaka, M. Takagi, Biophysical effect of amino acids on the prevention of protein aggregation, J. Biochem. (Tokyo). 132 (2002) 591–595.
- [17] Protein aggregation and bioprocessing | SpringerLink, (n.d.).
 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1208%2Faapsj080366 (accessed January 16, 2019).
- [18] Protein aggregation: Pathways, induction factors and analysis Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, (n.d.). https://jpharmsci.org/article/S0022-3549(16)33077-5/fulltext (accessed January 16, 2019).
- [19] M.E. Kimple, A.L. Brill, R.L. Pasker, Overview of Affinity Tags for Protein Purification: Affinity Tags for Protein Purification, in: J.E. Coligan, B.M. Dunn, D.W. Speicher, P.T. Wingfield (Eds.), Curr. Protoc. Protein Sci., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2013: pp. 9.9.1-9.9.23. doi:10.1002/0471140864.ps0909s73.
- [20] D.R. Smyth, M.K. Mrozkiewicz, W.J. McGrath, P. Listwan, B. Kobe, Crystal structures of fusion proteins with large-affinity tags, Protein Sci. Publ. Protein Soc. 12 (2003) 1313–1322.
- [21] D.W. Wood, New trends and affinity tag designs for recombinant protein purification, Curr. Opin. Struct.
 Biol. 26 (2014) 54–61. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2014.04.006.

- [22] S. Hober, K. Nord, M. Linhult, Protein A chromatography for antibody purification, J. Chromatogr. B.
 848 (2007) 40–47. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.09.030.
- [23] A.S. Pina, C.R. Lowe, A.C.A. Roque, Challenges and opportunities in the purification of recombinant tagged proteins, Biotechnol. Adv. 32 (2014) 366–381. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.12.001.
- [24] M.R. Banki, L. Feng, D.W. Wood, Simple bioseparations using self-cleaving elastin-like polypeptide tags, Nat. Methods. 2 (2005) 659–662. doi:10.1038/nmeth787.
- [25] D.E. Meyer, A. Chilkoti, Purification of recombinant proteins by fusion with thermally-responsive polypeptides, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 1112–1115. doi:10.1038/15100.
- [26] N. Hansmeier, The surface (S)-layer gene cspB of Corynebacterium glutamicum is transcriptionally activated by a LuxR-type regulator and located on a 6 kb genomic island absent from the type strain ATCC 13032, Microbiology. 152 (2006) 923–935. doi:10.1099/mic.0.28673-0.
- [27] Y. Matsuda, H. Itaya, Y. Kitahara, N.M. Theresia, E.A. Kutukova, Y.A.V. Yomantas, M. Date, Y. Kikuchi, M. Wachi, Double mutation of cell wall proteins CspB and PBP1a increases secretion of the antibody Fab fragment from Corynebacterium glutamicum, Microb. Cell Factories. 13 (2014) 56.
- [28] J.L. Peyret, N. Bayan, G. Joliff, T. Gulik-Krzywicki, L. Mathieu, E. Shechter, G. Leblon, Characterization of the cspB gene encoding PS2, an ordered surface-layer protein in Corynebacterium glutamicum, Mol. Microbiol. 9 (1993) 97–109.

Chapter 2.

Development of A New pH-Responsive Peptide Tag for Protein Purification

2.1. Introduction

Recombinant proteins are widely used in many applications, as exemplified by pharmaceuticals and industrial enzymes. A number of protein expression systems have been designed to increase the purification efficiency of recombinant proteins incorporating purification tags, which are peptides or proteins that display highly specific and reversible binding with a ligand [1,2]. Such a fusion protein is typically purified from host cell proteins by affinity chromatography, which is both simple and efficient. Many kinds of purification tags and immobilized affinity ligands are commercially available [3]; however, the scale-up of affinity chromatography can represent a major cost in the production of the final protein product at the industrial scale.

Peptide tags are in demand for use in costless and simple methods for protein purification. The elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) tag is a widely used tag for nonchromatographic purification of several proteins, including calmodulin, catalase, and thioredoxin [1,4,5]. The ELP tag comprises thermally responsive polypeptides that undergo reversible aggregation above an intrinsic transition temperature (Tt), and this aggregation is caused by hydrophobic interaction [6]. ELP fusion proteins are soluble in aqueous solutions below Tt, whereas they form aggregates when the temperature is raised above Tt. The aggregation (precipitation) process of ELP fusion proteins is fully reversible. Accordingly, the precipitation–redissolution cycle of the ELP fusion protein controlled by temperature can be used for purification without the need for chromatography. However, the typical Tt of the ELP tag is 30°C–40°C, which may causes irreversible unfolding of heat-labile proteins [4].

This paper describes a novel purification tag based on cell surface protein B (CspB) of Corynebacterium glutamicum. It has been shown that C. glutamicum strains have a surface (S) layer outside the normal cell wall, which comprises a single protein assembled in two-dimensional (2D) paracrystalline arrays [5]. The protein

CspB (also known as PS2) has been identified as a major secreted protein of several C. glutamicum strains and forms the S-layer in these species [7,8]. Electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy have shown that the S-layer of C. glutamicum formed from CspB assembles into hexameric complexes in a hexagonal 2D lattice structure mainly as a result of hydrophobic interactions [8–14]. The hexagonal lattice has been shown to be stable in 3% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) at temperatures up to 60°C. Considering that (i) CspB is secreted in soluble form in physiological condition, (ii) the self-assembled structure of CspB forms in physiological condition and is highly stable [9], and (iii) the C-terminal portion of CspB works for anchoring to the cell wall, I assumed that a N-terminal partial sequence of CspB can be used as a stimuli responsive peptide and thus as a protein purification tag for precipitation and redissolution in physiological conditions. According to the above hypothesis, I prepared several gene constructs, which consist of various lengths of CspB as tags, and a proinsulin as a model pharmaceutical protein. Next, I investigated the behavior of the expressed fusion proteins in various solution conditions. Finally, I evaluated the versatility of the new CspB tag using other types of pharmaceutical proteins, Teriparatide and Bivalirudin.

2.2. Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains, plasmids, and the design of fusion proteins

CspB fusion proteins were prepared according to a standard protocol for protein expression and secretion described previously[8], using a Corynebacterium glutamicum expression system, named CORYNEX® from the underlined characters which provided as a protein expression service from AJINOMOTO Co., Inc. The bacterial strain and plasmid used in this study were YDK010, a derivative of wild-type C. glutamicum ATCC13869, and pPK4, respectively [15–21]. The amino acid sequence of CspB (also known as PS2) has already been determined (Genbank Accession No. BAV24076.1). The amino acid sequence of mature CspB protein is shown in Figure 2.1A. The N-terminal portions of CspB of 5, 6, 17, 50, and 250 amino acid residues were selected as a tag to be fused and evaluated and were termed as CspB5, CspB6, CspB17, CspB50, and CspB250, respectively.

The amino acid sequences of proinsulin (PIns), Teriparatide, and Bivalirudin have been determined as Genbank Accession Nos. 2KQP_A, AAQ51502.1, and ACW47046.1, respectively. For PIns, CspB5, CspB6,

CspB17, CspB50, and CspB250 fusion constructs were designed as shown in Figure 2.1B and termed as CspB5-PIns, CspB6-PIns, CspB17-PIns, CspB50-PIns, and CspB250-PIns, respectively. For Teriparatide, a CspB50 fusion construct, which includes a TEV protease recognition site, ENLYFQ, in between was designed, and termed as CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. For Bivalirudin, a sequence lacking N-terminal D-Phe and Pro (named as Biva18) was selected, and a CspB50 fusion construct, which includes a trypsin recognition site, lysine, in between was designed and termed as CspB50Lys-Biva18. The DNA sequences encoding these CspB fusion proteins were designed by incorporating the C. glutamicum codon bias. DNA fragments containing the promotor of cspB from C. glutamicum and the signal sequence of cspA from C. ammoniagenes were fused to the CspB fusion protein genes. These gene constructs were inserted into pPK4.

Expression of fusion proteins

C. glutamicum transformants expressing the PIns or CspB fusion PIns series were cultured in test tubes at 30° C for 72 h in MM liquid media (120 g of glucose, 0.4 g of magnesium sulfate heptahydrate, 30 g of ammonium sulfate, 1 g of potassium dihydrogen phosphate, 0.01 g of iron sulfate heptahydrate, 0.01 g of manganese sulfate pentahydrate, 200 µg of thiamine hydrochloride, 500 µg of biotin, 0.15 g of DL-methionine, and 50 g of calcium carbonate, adjusted to 1 L with water and to pH 7.5) containing 25 mg/L of kanamycin.

C. glutamicum transformants expressing the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18 were cultured at 30°C for 3 days in a 1-L capacity jar fermenter to which 300 mL of an MMTG liquid medium (120 g of glucose, 2 g of calcium chloride, 3 g of magnesium sulfate heptahydrate, 3 g of ammonium sulfate, 1.5 g of potassium dihydrogen phosphate, 0.03 g of iron sulfate heptahydrate, 0.03 g of manganese sulfate pentahydrate, 450 μ g of thiamine hydrochloride, 450 μ g of biotin, 0.15 g of DL-methionine, and 50 g of calcium carbonate, adjusted to 1 L with water and to pH 6.7) containing 25 mg/L of kanamycin had been charged, and the pH was maintained at 6.7 by the addition of gaseous ammonia.

In the both of test tube and jar fermenter cultivation, the fusion proteins were constitutively expressed and secreted into the culture broth by *C. glutamicum*. After culturing by a test tube or jar fermenter was completed, the culture broth were transferred to microtubes and centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 min to separate the bacterial

cells. The resulting supernatants were filtered through a sterile filter, and the culture supernatants were obtained, which were used for further experiments.

Characterization of CspB fusion proteins

The pH-dependent precipitation–redissolution behavior of the CspB fusion proteins was characterized as follows. The culture supernatant (1 mL) was adjusted to various pH values by adding 0.5 M H2SO4 or 0.5 M NaOH. After mixing well, the pH-adjusted culture supernatant was left for 10 min. The pH-adjusted culture supernatant was then centrifuged at 12,000 g for 5 min to separate precipitates formed by the pH change. The supernatant was transferred to another microtube, and an equal volume of 100 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.5) was added to the remaining precipitate. The precipitate dissolved immediately and a precipitation–redissolution sample was obtained. The supernatant and precipitation–redissolution samples obtained at various pH values were analyzed by SDS-PAGE using AnykD Mini-PROTEAN® Precast Gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.), and the bands of CspB fusion proteins were detected by staining with SYPRO®Ruby (Life Technologies Japan Ltd.). The band intensity was quantified as an intensity using a Multi Gauge (FUJIFILM Corporation), and the precipitation ratio (P/(S+P) × 100, where P and S denote the band intensities of the CspB fusion protein in supernatant and precipitation samples, respectively) of each CspB fusion protein at each pH was calculated.

2.3. Results

Reversible pH responses of CspB fusion proinsulin

Figure 2.1A shows the full sequence of mature CspB, which comprises 469 amino acid residues. I designed various lengths of the N-terminal CspB sequence with 5, 6, 17, 50, and 250 amino acid residues as the precipitation–redissolution tag for protein purification, named CspB5, CspB6, CspB17, CspB50, and CspB250, respectively (Fig. 2.1B). The model protein used was proinsulin (PIns), which is a precursor of a therapeutic protein comprising 86 amino acid residues; its isoelectric point is pH 5.2, and it contains 34% α -helical structure at neutral pH [22].

First, I investigated the solution states of CspB250-PIns, CspB50-PIns, CspB17-PIns, CspB6-PIns, and CspB5-PIns at neutral and weak acidic pH. The culture supernatants typically at around pH 7.8 were used, and the pH was lowered to around 4.6 by the addition of H₂SO₄. The precipitates formed by the pH change were separated by centrifugation and then mixed with 100 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.5). As a result, all the precipitates redissolved immediately and clear solutions (i.e., precipitation–redissolution samples) were obtained. Figure 2.1C shows the SDS-PAGE analyses of the supernatant (Sup.) and precipitation–redissolution (Ppt.) samples at neutral and weak acidic pH for each CspB fusion PIns. At weak acidic pH, CspB6-PIns, CspB17-PIns, CspB50-PIns, and CspB250-PIns formed precipitates, whereas PIns alone and CspB5-PIns did not form precipitates (Fig. 2.1C). Interestingly, six amino acid residues of CspB (CspB6) induced the precipitation of PIns depending on pH.

Figure 2.1D shows the precipitation ratio as a function of the length of CspB fused to PIns. The precipitation ratio increased with increasing CspB peptide length from 37% precipitation by six residues (CspB6) to 65% precipitation by 250 residues (CspB250). Taken together, it was revealed that the small fragments of CspB fused to PIns can induce precipitation at weak acidic pH and that the precipitate formed can easily dissolve at a higher pH, i.e., in 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH8.5), suggesting that these CspB fragments can add a protein reversible pH-responsive character, which controls soluble and precipitated states of the protein simply by pH. I further investigated the CspB50 fragment as a pH-responsive tag fused to other types of pharmaceutical proteins.

QETNPTFNINNGFNDADGSTIQPVEPVNHTEETLRDLTDSTGAYLEEFQY 50 GNVEEIVEAYLQVQASADGFDPSEQAAYEAFEAARVRASQELAASAETIT 100 KTRESVAYALKADREATAAFEAYLSALRQVSVINDLIADANAKNKTDFAE 150 IELYDVLYTDADISGDAPLLAPAYKELKDLQAEVDADFEWLGEFAIDNNE 200 DNYVIRTHIPAVEALKAAIDSLVDTVEPLRADAIAKNIEAQKSDVLVPQL 250 FLERATAQRDTLRVVEAIFSTSARYVELYENVENVNVENKTLRQHYSSLI 300 PNLFIAAVGNINELNNADQAARELFLDWDTDLTTNDEDEAYYQAKLDFAI 350 ETYAKILINGEVWQEPLAYVQNLDAGARQEAADREAERAADAAYRAEQLR 400 IAQEAADAQKALAEALANAGNNDNGGDNSSDDKGTGSSDIGTWGPFAAIA 450 AIIAAIAAIFPFLSGIVKF 469

А



Fig. 2. 1. Construction of CspB fusion proinsulin and evaluation of pH response. (A) Amino acid sequences of mature CspB. The underlined C-terminal amino acid sequence is thought to be a transmembrane region with the anchor on the cell wall of *C. glutamicum*. (B) Schematic structures of CspB fusion proinsulin are shown. Various lengths of the N-terminal portion of CspB, the length of which is indicated by the numbers, are fused with proinsulin (PIns). (C) SDS-PAGE analysis of the supernatant (Sup.) and precipitation–redissolution (Ppt.) samples obtained from the culture supernatant of CspB fusion protein at weak basic and weak acidic pH. (D) Plot of the relationship between the length of the CspB tag and the precipitation ratio of each CspB fusion proinsulin. Inset is the same plot focusing on the short CspB.

Reversible pH responses of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18

I selected the CspB50 fragment and investigated it as a pH-responsive tag for Teriparatide and Biva18 (Fig. 2. 2). Teriparatide is a pharmaceutical protein with 34 residues that is used to treat osteoporosis [23]. Biva18 is a pharmaceutical protein fragment comprising 18 residues that is a precursor of an anticoagulant Bivalirudin [24,25]. The two kinds of pharmaceutical proteins were fused to CspB50 with small cleavage sites (TEV and Lys) for TEV protease (for Teriparatide) or trypsin (for Biva18), named CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18, respectively (Fig. 2. 2A and 2B).



Fig. 2. 2. Construction of CspB50 fusion Teriparatide and Bivalirudin and evaluation of pH response.

(A, B) Schematic structures of the CspB50 fusion proteins CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18. The cleavage sites (TEV and Lys) recognized by TEV protease and trypsin were also fused. (C, D) Images of pH-dependent precipitation. (E, F) SDS-PAGE analysis of the supernatant (Sup.) and precipitation–redissolution (Ppt.) samples prepared from the samples shown in C and D. (G, H) Snapshots of the pH response of each CspB50 fusion protein at the 50 mL scale (see Supplemental Data Fig. 2. 2. S1 for the original movie).

The fusion proteins of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18 were expressed in C. glutamicum, and then the culture supernatants were collected. After that, the solution pH values of the culture supernatants were adjusted using 0.5 M NaOH or 0.5 M H₂SO₄. Figure 2. 2C and 2D shows photographs of the culture supernatants of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18 adjusted at various pH values taken after centrifugation. As expected, precipitates were observed depending on pH for both the fusion proteins. Figure 2. 2E and 2F show the SDS-PAGE analyses of the supernatant (Sup.) and precipitation-redissolution (Ppt.) samples prepared from the samples shown in Figures 2. 2C and 2D, respectively. CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was fully in a soluble state at pH 7.9–7.3, whereas it was precipitated at below pH 7.1 and redissolved by 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH8.5) (Fig. 2. 2E). Similarly, CspB50Lys-Biva18 was fully in soluble state at pH 7.9–5.2, whereas it was precipitated at below pH 4.4 and redissolved by 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH8.5) (Fig. 2. 2F). The reversibility between soluble (redissolved) and precipitated states of the fusion proteins was monitored at the 50 mL solution scale (Fig. 2. 2G and 2H). CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50Lys-Biva18 formed clear solutions at a weak basic pH of around 9.0. The clear solution became cloudy on adding 0.5 M H₂SO₄ to the solution. After that, the cloudy solution became clear on adding 0.5 M NaOH (see Supplemental Data for the original video for Fig. 2. 2G and 2H). Taken together, CspB50 was suggested to work as a versatile pHresponsive tag for reversible precipitation-redissolution of various proteins.

Effect of the type of acid

As shown in the above analyses, three kinds of CspB50 fusion proteins showed reversible precipitation– redissolution behavior that depended on the solution pH. Here, I investigate the effect of the type of acid on the precipitate formation of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide at various pH values (Fig. 2. 3). All types of acids tested, i.e., sulfuric acid, hydrochloric acid, and acetic acid, formed precipitates of the fusion proteins at weak acidic pH (Fig. 2. 3A). Figure 2. 3B shows the pH dependence of the precipitate formation of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. All types of acids tested yielded very similar transition curves for precipitation–redissolution in the pH range of 6.6–7.0. These results indicate that the reversible precipitation–redissolution of the fusion protein depends only on the solution pH and not on the type of acid used.



Fig. 2. 3. Effect of the type of acid on the transition pH of a CspB50-fusion protein. (A) SDS-PAGE analysis of the supernatant (Sup.) and precipitation–redissolution (Ppt.) samples prepared from culture supernatant of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide samples with various pH, adjusted by three different types of acid. (B) Plot of the relationship between the pH and the precipitation ratio of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. The shaded area corresponds to the transition pH of precipitation–redissolution of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide.

2.4. Discussion

This paper proposes a new peptide tag based on CspB derived from *C. glutamicum*. The advantages of the CspB tag are (i) a sharp pH response centered around neutral pH, (ii) a relatively short amino acid sequence for versatile applications, and (iii) a simple costless method for precipitation–redissolution by using weak acidic and weak basic solutions. These advantages are discussed in the following subsections.

Sharp pH response

The most important advantage of the CspB based peptide tag is the sharp pH response centered around neutral pH. The transition occurs within a narrow range of only 0.5 pH units, as shown in Figure 2. 3B, and the recovery after redissolution of the precipitated CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was almost 100% (Fig. 2. 3B). In contrast, the thermally responsive ELP tag has a broad transition temperature range of around 30°C–40°C [26].

The transition of the ELP tag from precipitation to redissolution usually requires an increase in temperature of 15°C and also the higher end is sometimes harsh to proteins. Accordingly, the sharp transition of CspB tag near neutral pH with high recovery is a useful property for protein purification without protein denaturation from an industrial application point of view. For example, the purification of Teriparatide usually involves three chromatographic processes, including cation-exchange chromatography followed by two types of reversed-phase chromatography [27]; the overall recovery is around 48% for the conventional purification process. In contrast, the CspB tag can be used to skip at least one chromatographic process because CspB50TEV-Teriparatide can easily be isolated from a cell lysate of *E. coli* or a culture supernatant of *C. glutamicum*, yeast, or Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells with high recovery through the precipitation–redissolution process by simply adjusting the pH near the sharp transition.

Versatile applications due to a short amino acid sequence

The three proteins with different characters showed pH-responsive behavior by fusing the CspB50, suggesting that this tag can be used for a wide variety of proteins. Note that all original proteins tested do not form precipitates without CspB tag. Considering the fact that the pH- responsive behavior is achieved even when its length is short, i.e., six residues, it is considered that the length of the tag might be optimized at a broad range for every target protein to be fused. CspB6 (or longer) -PIns formed precipitates at weak acidic pH but CspB5 PIns did not. The amino acid sequences of CspB5 and CspB6 are QETNP and QETNPT, respectively. It is suggested that the character built by the six amino residues is essential for pH-responsive behavior, but the role of each residue is currently unknown. One of the approaches is to use several solvent additives, such as salt, denaturant, and detergent to understand the mechanism of protein-protein interactions. According to the molecular mechanism, the CspB variant tag will be developed for various types of proteins in future. Actually, a thermally responsive ELP tag comprises simple amino acid residues with VPGXG (X stands for all amino acids other than proline). In addition, many kinds of ELP variant tags have been developed by changing the repeat number of the VPGXG sequence or by changing the guest residue (X), leading to favorable properties of the fusion proteins [28,29]. For example, the length of the ELP tag influences the transition temperature of aggregation of the fusion protein and the particle size of the aggregates [30], and the

role of the surface hydrophobicity of ELP and ELP fusion proteins has been investigated [6]. Furthermore, prediction of the transition temperature of ELP fusion proteins has been reported [31]. The CspB variant tag might offer different transition pH suitable for each target protein.

Costless method compared with chromatography

The development of efficient conventional chromatography methods involves examining and screening various types of conditions such as pH, conductivity, and the kinds of buffer and resin for both adsorption and elution [32]. To avoid this complicated development and cost required for actual production, various types of affinity tags have been developed, represented by His tag and MBP tag [1]. However, affinity chromatography also requires resins with corresponding ligands for affinity-tag purification, which raises the production cost, and sometimes other problems related to the ligand occur, such as its dissociation and/or regeneration. Thus, purification processes that do not require resins are in demand for industrial-scale purification due to their low cost. The pH-responsive CspB tag can be considered as one approach for purification without resins, and also as one approach for protein concentration processs.

Figure 2. 4 shows a schematic of a possible purification process based on CspB fusion proteins. The CspB fusion protein is harvested in culture supernatant (step 1), and then the pH of the culture supernatant is lowered by the addition of acid (step 2). The cloudy solution is next centrifuged to obtain the precipitate (step 3). The supernatant of the solution of the pH-adjusted solution, including soluble impurities is removed and rinsed, after which the precipitate is redissolved by the addition of a buffer with a high pH (step 4). The supernatant of the redissolved solution, including purified CspB fusion protein, is collected (step 5), leaving irreversibly precipitated insoluble impurities. Note that the highly reversible pH-dependent aggregation is used as a protein concentration method [33,34]. When a small amount of buffer is added in steps 3–4, the CspB fusion protein is easily concentrated.



∞● : CspB fusion protein, •: soluble impurities, •: insoluble impurities

Fig. 2. 4. Schematic illustration of a possible purification method making use of the precipitation–redissolution behavior of a CspB fusion protein.

2.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, CspB fragment was investigated as a pH-responsive tag for proinsulin, Teriparatide, and Bivalirudin. The advantages of the CspB tag are (i) full reversibility of the aggregated-state protein, (ii) pH responsivity centered around neutral pH, (iii) sharp pH responsivity within 0.5 pH units, (iv) versatility of application to pharmaceutical proteins at various pH values, and (v) utilization by a simple concentration method. I believe that the pH-dependent reversible precipitation–redissolution response can be used for the purification of various proteins.

2.6. References

- [1] A.S. Pina, C.R. Lowe, A.C.A. Roque, Challenges and opportunities in the purification of recombinant tagged proteins, Biotechnol. Adv. 32 (2014) 366–381. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.12.001.
- [2] M.E. Kimple, A.L. Brill, R.L. Pasker, Overview of affinity tags for protein purification: Affinity tags for protein purification, in: J.E. Coligan, B.M. Dunn, D.W. Speicher, P.T. Wingfield (Eds.), Curr. Protoc.

Protein Sci., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2013, pp. 9.9.1–9.9.23. doi:10.1002/0471140864.ps0909s73.

- [3] D.W. Wood, New trends and affinity tag designs for recombinant protein purification, Curr. Opin. Struct.
 Biol. 26 (2014) 54–61. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2014.04.006.
- [4] M.R. Banki, L. Feng, D.W. Wood, Simple bioseparations using self-cleaving elastin-like polypeptide tags, Nat. Methods. 2 (2005) 659–662. doi:10.1038/nmeth787.
- [5] D.E. Meyer, A. Chilkoti, Purification of recombinant proteins by fusion with thermally-responsive polypeptides, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 1112–1115. doi:10.1038/15100.
- [6] J.L. Peyret, N. Bayan, G. Joliff, T. Gulik-Krzywicki, L. Mathieu, E. Shechter, G. Leblon, Characterization of the cspB gene encoding PS2, an ordered surface-layer protein in *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, Mol. Microbiol. 9 (1993) 97–109.
- [7] Y. Matsuda, H. Itaya, Y. Kitahara, N.M. Theresia, E.A. Kutukova, Y.A.V. Yomantas, M. Date, Y. Kikuchi, M. Wachi, Double mutation of cell wall proteins CspB and PBP1a increases secretion of the antibody Fab fragment from *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, Microb. Cell Factories 13 (2014) 56.
- [8] M. Chami, N. Bayan, J.L. Peyret, T. Gulik-Krzywicki, G. Leblon, E. Shechter, The S-layer protein of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* is anchored to the cell wall by its C-terminal hydrophobic domain, Mol. Microbiol. 23 (1997) 483–492.
- [9] V. Puech, M. Chami, A. Lemassu, M.A. Lanéelle, B. Schiffler, P. Gounon, N. Bayan, R. Benz, M. Daffé, Structure of the cell envelope of corynebacteria: importance of the non-covalently bound lipids in the formation of the cell wall permeability barrier and fracture plane, Microbiology 147 (2001) 1365–1382.
- [10] S. Scheuring, H. Stahlberg, M. Chami, C. Houssin, J.L. Rigaud, A. Engel, Charting and unzipping the surface layer of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* with the atomic force microscope, Mol. Microbiol. 44 (2002) 675–684.
- [11] N. Bayan, C. Houssin, M. Chami, G. Leblon, Mycomembrane and S-layer: two important structures of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* cell envelope with promising biotechnology applications, J. Biotechnol. 104 (2003) 55–67. doi:10.1016/S0168-1656(03)00163-9.

- [12] N. Hansmeier, F.W. Bartels, R. Ros, D. Anselmetti, A. Tauch, A. Pühler, J. Kalinowski, Classification of hyper-variable *Corynebacterium glutamicum* surface-layer proteins by sequence analyses and atomic force microscopy, J. Biotechnol. 112 (2004) 177–193. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2004.03.020.
- [13] H. Bahl, H. Scholz, N. Bayan, M. Chami, G. Leblon, T. Gulik-Krzywicki, E. Shechter, A. Fouet, S. Mesnage, E. Tosi-Couture, P. Gounon, M. Mock, E. Conway de Macario, A.J. Macario, L.A. Fernández-Herrero, G. Olabarría, J. Berenguer, M.J. Blaser, B. Kuen, W. Lubitz, M. Sára, P.H. Pouwels, C.P. Kolen, H.J. Boot, S. Resch, Molecular biology of S-layers, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 20 (1997) 47–98.
- [14] Y. Kikuchi, M. Date, K.I. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Secretion of active-form *Streptoverticillium mobaraense* transglutaminase by *Corynebacterium glutamicum*: Processing of the pro-transglutaminase by a cosecreted subtilisin-like protease from *Streptomyces albogriseolus*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69 (2003) 358–366. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.1.358-366.2003.
- [15] M. Date, K.I. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Y. Kikuchi, Production of native-type Streptoverticillium mobaraense transglutaminase in Corynebacterium glutamicum, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69 (2003) 3011–3014. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.5.3011-3014.2003.
- [16] M. Date, K. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Y. Kikuchi, High level expression of *Streptomyces mobaraensis* transglutaminase in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* using a chimeric pro-region from *Streptomyces cinnamoneus* transglutaminase, J. Biotechnol. 110 (2004) 219–226. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2004.02.011.
- [17] Y. Kikuchi, M. Date, H. Itaya, K. Matsui, L.F. Wu, Functional analysis of the twin-arginine translocation pathway in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* ATCC 13869, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72 (2006) 7183– 7192. doi:10.1128/AEM.01528-06.
- [18] Y. Kikuchi, H. Itaya, M. Date, K. Matsui, L.F. Wu, Production of *Chryseobacterium proteolyticum* protein-glutaminase using the twin-arginine translocation pathway in *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 78 (2008) 67–74. doi:10.1007/s00253-007-1283-3.
- [19] H. Itaya, Y. Kikuchi, Secretion of *Streptomyces mobaraensis* pro-transglutaminase by coryneform bacteria, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 78 (2008) 621–625. doi:10.1007/s00253-007-1340-y.

- [20] Y. Kikuchi, H. Itaya, M. Date, K. Matsui, L.F. Wu, TatABC Overexpression improves *Corynebacterium glutamicum* Tat-dependent protein secretion, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75 (2009) 603–607. doi:10.1128/AEM.01874-08.
- [21] Y. Yang, Q. Hua, J. Liu, E.H. Shimizu, M.H. Choquette, R.B. Mackin, M.A. Weiss, Solution structure of proinsulin: Connecting domain flexibility and prohormone processing, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 7847–7851. doi:10.1074/jbc.C109.084921.
- [22] K.T. Brixen, P.M. Christensen, C. Ejersted, B.L. Langdahl, Teriparatide (biosynthetic human parathyroid hormone 1-34): a new paradigm in the treatment of osteoporosis, Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 94 (2004) 260–270. doi:10.1111/j.1742-7843.2004.pto940602.x.
- [23] R. Scatena, Bivalirudin: a new generation antithrombotic drug, Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs. 9 (2000)
 1119–1127. doi:10.1517/13543784.9.5.1119.
- [24] Z. Yu, Y. Huang, Y. Wang, C. Dai, M. Dong, Z. Liu, S. Yu, J. Hu, Q. Dai, Construction and characterization of novel hirulog variants with antithrombin and antiplatelet activities, Protein Pept. Lett. 21 (2014) 69–74.
- [25] D.E. Meyer, A. Chilkoti. Purification of recombinant proteins by fusion with thermally-responsive polypeptides. Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 1112–1115.
- [26] Y. Suzuki, M. Yabuta, K. Ohsuye, High-level production of recombinant human parathyroid hormone 1-34, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64 (1998) 526–529.
- [27] M. Shimazu, A. Mulchandani, W. Chen, Thermally triggered purification and immobilization of elastin-OPH fusions, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 81 (2003) 74–79. doi:10.1002/bit.10446.
- [28] L. Bataille, W. Dieryck, A. Hocquellet, C. Cabanne, K. Bathany, S. Lecommandoux, B. Garbay, E. Garanger, Expression and purification of short hydrophobic elastin-like polypeptides with maltose-binding protein as a solubility tag, Protein Expr. Purif. 110 (2015) 165–171. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2015.03.013.
- [29] D.E. Meyer, K. Trabbic-Carlson, A. Chilkoti, Protein purification by fusion with an environmentally responsive elastin-like polypeptide: Effect of polypeptide length on the purification of thioredoxin, Biotechnol. Prog. 17 (2001) 720–728. doi:10.1021/bp0100490.

- [30] K. Trabbic-Carlson, D.E. Meyer, L. Liu, R. Piervincenzi, N. Nath, T. LaBean, A. Chilkoti, Effect of protein fusion on the transition temperature of an environmentally responsive elastin-like polypeptide: a role for surface hydrophobicity?, Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 17 (2004) 57–66. doi:10.1093/protein/gzh006.
- [31] T. Christensen, W. Hassouneh, K. Trabbic-Carlson, A. Chilkoti, Predicting transition temperatures of elastin-like polypeptide fusion proteins, Biomacromolecules. 14 (2013) 1514–1519. doi:10.1021/bm400167h.
- [32] P.T. Wingfield, Overview of the purification of recombinant proteins: Purification of recombinant proteins, in: J.E. Coligan, B.M. Dunn, D.W. Speicher, P.T. Wingfield (Eds.), Curr. Protoc. Protein Sci., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2015, pp. 6.1.1–6.1.35. doi:10.1002/0471140864.ps0601s80.
- [33] T. Kurinomaru, T. Maruyama, S. Izaki, K. Handa, T. Kimoto, K. Shiraki, Protein-poly(amino acid) complex precipitation for high-concentration protein formulation, J. Pharm. Sci. 103 (2014) 2248–2254. doi:10.1002/jps.24025.
- [34] T. Kurinomaru, K. Shiraki, Aggregative protein-polyelectrolyte complex for high-concentration formulation of protein drugs, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 100 (2017) 11–17. doi:10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.06.016.

Chapter 3.

Non-Chromatographic Protein Purification with A pH-Responsive CspB Tag

3.1. Introduction

Recombinant proteins are widely used in many applications such as pharmaceuticals and industrial enzymes. Many protein expression systems have been designed to increase the purification efficiency of recombinant proteins incorporating purification tags, which are peptides or proteins that exhibit highly specific and reversible binding to a particular ligand [1–3]. A variety of purification tags and immobilized affinity ligands are commercially available [4]. Such protein tags are typically purified from the other proteins of the host cell by affinity chromatography. This purification process is both simple and efficient on a laboratory scale, but the scale-up of affinity chromatography can introduce a significant cost in the industrial-scale production of a protein.

Thus, there is a demand for peptide tags that facilitate the non-chromatographic purification of proteins. An elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) tag has been used to purify several proteins including calmodulin, catalase, and thioredoxin [1,5,6]. The ELP tag is a thermally responsive polypeptide that is soluble in aqueous solutions at temperatures below an intrinsic transition temperature (T_i) but undergoes reversible aggregation above T_t because of hydrophobic interactions [7,8]. Thus, ELP fusion proteins are soluble in aqueous solutions below T_t , whereas they form aggregates when the temperature is raised above T_t . The aggregation (or precipitation) process of ELP fusion proteins is fully reversible. Therefore, precipitation–redissolution cycles of the ELP fusion protein can be controlled by cycling the temperature and can be leveraged for protein purification without the need for chromatography. However, the typical T_t of the ELP tag is 30–40 °C, which may induce irreversible unfolding of heat-labile proteins [6].

The CspB tag is derived from cell surface protein B (CspB) of *Corynebacterium glutamicum*. It is a pHresponsive polypeptide that undergoes reversible precipitation and dissolution according to the pH of the solution [9–12]. Thus, CspB tag has been used as an alternative purification tag for the non-chromatographic purification of CspB fusion proteins [10,11]: the CspB fusion protein is harvested in the culture supernatant of the *C. glutamicum*. The pH of the culture supernatant is lowered by adding acid. The resulting cloudy solution is centrifuged to precipitate the CspB fusion protein while the supernatant, which contains other impurities, can be decanted. The precipitate was redissolved in a 1.0 M arginine solution of pH 8.0. The pH-driven precipitation–redissolution cycle with arginine was repeated three times in order to remove the pigments and other impurities through the precipitation–redissolution cycles. The final precipitate is then redissolved by adding a neutral buffer. However, in order to obtain an intact target protein, further steps are necessary to digest the CspB tag and purify the intact target protein. In this study, I investigated the purification of Teriparatide, which is a biologic treatment for osteoporosis, as a model target protein using the pH-responsive CspB tag fusion system. This is the first report of the purification of an intact target protein from the pHresponsive CspB fusion protein.

3.2. Materials and Methods

Bacterial strain, plasmid, and the design of fusion protein

CspB50TEV-Teriparatide comprised N-terminal 50 amino acid residues of CspB, the cleavage site (six amino acid residues; ENLYFQ) of TEV protease, and Teriparatide (Fig. 3. 1A). CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was prepared according to a standard protocol for protein expression and secretion described previously [13], using a *Corynebacterium glutamicum* expression system, named CORYNEX® from the underlined characters which provided as a protein expression service from AJINOMOTO Co., Inc. The amino acid sequences of CspB and Teriparatide were derived from GenBank (accession numbers BAV24076.1 and AAQ51502.1, respectively) [10]. The corresponding DNA sequence encoding CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was designed by incorporating the *C. glutamicum* codon bias (GenScript, Piscataway, NJ, USA). DNA fragments containing the promoter sequence of CspB from *C. glutamicum* and the signal sequence of CspA from *C. ammoniagenes* were fused to the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide gene. This synthesized construct was then inserted into the pPK4 plasmid and

incorporated into the YDK010 bacterial strain, which is a derivative of wild-type *C. glutamicum* (ATCC 13869) [14–21].

Expression of the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide

The *C. glutamicum* transformant expressing CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was cultured at 30 °C for 3 days in a 1 L-capacity jar fermenter. The transformant was cultured in 300 mL of an MMTG liquid medium (120 g of glucose, 2 g of calcium chloride, 3 g of magnesium sulfate heptahydrate, 3 g of ammonium sulfate, 1.5 g of potassium dihydrogen phosphate, 0.03 g of iron sulfate heptahydrate, 0.03 g of manganese sulfate pentahydrate, 450 µg of thiamine hydrochloride, 450 µg of biotin, 0.15 g of DL-methionine, and 50 g of calcium carbonate, adjusted to 1 L with water and to pH 6.7) containing 25 mg/L of kanamycin had been charged, and the pH was maintained at 6.7 by the addition of gaseous ammonia. In the jar fermenter cultivation, the CspB fusion protein was constitutively expressed and secreted into the culture broth by *C. glutamicum*. After the cultivation was completed, the culture broth was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 min to separate the bacterial cells. The resulting supernatant was filtered through a Stericup (Merck) for sterile filtration, and the culture supernatant was obtained, which was used for further experiments.

Isolation of CspB50TEV-teriparatdie from the culture supernatant

The 30 mL of culture supernatant was adjusted to pH 5.0 by adding a small amount of HCl to precipitate the CspB fusion protein. The sample was then centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min to pellet the precipitate. After the supernatant was removed, the precipitate was redissolved by adding an equal volume of a 1.0 M arginine solution (pH 8.0) to supernatant as described previously [11]. This pH-driven precipitation–redissolution cycle with arginine was repeated three times. The obtained precipitate was finally redissolved in 10 mL of 20 mM Tris–HCl buffer (pH 8.0). The initial culture supernatant and the finally obtained isolated CspB50TEV-Teriparatide sample were subjected to reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC) as described in Section 2.6 to measure the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide concentrations. Then, the yield of the isolation process was calculated as the ratio between the amounts of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide in the isolated sample and initial culture supernatant (expressed as a percentage).

Enzymatic digestion of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide by TEV protease

The enzymatic digestion of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was carried out according to the standard protocol for the TEV protease used here, proTEV plus (Promega). Briefly, CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was treated by urea solutions of 0–6 M at 25 °C for 1 h. Then, each enzymatic digestion solution was diluted to 0.5 M urea by adding 20 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH8.0). The enzymatic digestion solution comprised 1 mM DTT, 1.3×10^{-3} unit/mL of TEV protease, 20 mM Tris–HCl (pH 8.0), and 0.5 M urea in the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide solution (which had a CspB50TEV-Teriparatide concentration of approximately 0.7 mg/mL). The enzymatic digestion process was performed in 5 mL scale for 24 h at 25 °C.

The digested samples were subjected to RP-HPLC as described in Sections 2.6, to determine digestion efficiency. The digestion efficiency was calculated as the ratio between the amount of undigested CspB fusion protein in the digested solution and the initial amount of CspB fusion protein before the digestion (expressed as a percentage).

Purification of Teriparatide by changing the solution pH

The enzymatic digestion solution, which had a pH of 8.0 after the reaction, was aliquoted, and the aliquots were adjusted to pH 6.0, 5.0, 4.0, and 3.0 by adding small amounts of HCl. The pH-adjusted samples were incubated at 25 °C for 1 h and centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min to separate the supernatant and the precipitate formed by the pH change. The supernatants were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and RP-HPLC to calculate the purity and yield, respectively. The purity of the experimentally obtained Teriparatide was calculated as the ratio between the intensity of the band associated with Teriparatide and the total of the intensities of the bands for all detected proteins in the final sample (expressed as a percentage). The yield was calculated as the ratio between the amounts of Teriparatide in the samples of pH 3.0 and 8.0 (expressed as a percentage).

RP-HPLC

RP-HPLC was performed using a Waters Alliance PDA system with a YMC-Triart C18 column ($\varphi 4.6 \times 100$ mm, a particle diameter of 5 µm, and a pore diameter of 12 nm) at 30°. Into the column, 30 µL of

the sample was injected. The mobile phases were 10 mM ammonium acetate with 10% acetonitrile (A) and 10 mM ammonium acetate with 80% acetonitrile (B). The flow rate was 1.0 mL/min, and elution gradient was 0-25% B applied over 25 min. The absorbance was measured at 280 nm. A calibration curve was created from the peak areas in samples with different concentrations of a Teriparatide reference standard (Bachem). The concentration of Teriparatide was quantified from the peak areas based on the calibration curve of Teriparatide reference standard. On the other hand, CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and Teriparatide have a value of 0.947 and 1.336, as absorbance values at 280 nm of 1.0 mg/mL, respectively. CspB50TEV-Teriparatide is underestimated about 1.4-fold (1.336/0.947) when Teriparatide is used as standard. Thus, I used the following equation when the concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide is calculated by RP-HPLC using Teriparatide as a reference standard. Actual concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide [mg/mL] = estimated concentration by RP-HPLC [mg/mL] × 1.4.

SDS-PAGE

SDS-PAGE was performed using a 16.5% mini-PROTEAN peptide gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.). The resulting protein bands were detected by applying a Bio-Safe[™] Coomassie stain (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.). Unstained polypeptide SDS-PAGE standards (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.) and a Teriparatide reference standard (Bachem) were used as standards. The band intensities were quantified using Image Quant TL (GE Healthcare).

Protein sequencing

The RP-HPLC eluate containing Teriparatide was subjected to protein sequencing. The sequencing was performed using a protein sequencer, PPSQ-10 (Shimadzu Corporation), based on Edman degradation.

Mass spectrometry

The RP-HPLC eluate containing Teriparatide was subjected to mass spectrometry. The analysis was performed using AXIMA-TOF2 (Shimadzu Corporation) based on matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS).

Circular dichroism

The far-ultraviolet (far-UV) circular dichroism (CD) spectra were obtained for 0.1 mg/mL solutions of a Teriparatide reference standard (Bachem) and the experimentally obtained Teriparatide, each in 20 mM sodium acetate (pH 4.0). The far-UV CD spectra were measured at 25 °C using a J-720 spectropolarimeter (Jasco) in the range of 250 to 200 nm at a scanning rate of 100 nm/min. Each sample was loaded in a quartz cell with a 1-mm path length.

3.3. Results

Expression of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide

Figure 3. 1A shows the amino acid sequences of the pH-responsive CspB tag and Teriparatide. CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was composed of CspB50, which was derived from 50 amino acid residues starting at the Nterminus of CspB, a digestion sequence of six residues that are recognized and digested by TEV protease (underlined), and the target protein, Teriparatide, which includes 34 residues (bold). Secretory expression using *C. glutamicum* was carried out, and the obtained culture supernatant and a Teriparatide reference standard (0.1 mg/mL) were analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Figure 3. 1B shows that a band specific to CspB50TEV-Teriparatide could be detected in the culture supernatant. Based on the quantitative analysis by RP-HPLC, the accumulation of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide in the culture supernatant was 3.0 g/L (equivalent to approximately 1.2 g/L Teriparatide).



Fig. 3. 1. Expression of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide by *C. glutamicum*. (A) Amino acid sequence of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide: 50 residues from the N-terminus of the CspB sequence, six-residue spacer that is recognized and digested by TEV protease (underlined), and Teriparatide, which contains 34 residues (bold). (B) SDS-PAGE analysis of the culture supernatant (lane 1) and 0.1 mg/mL of Teriparatide as a reference standard (lane 2).

Isolation of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide

Figure 3. 2 shows the process used to isolate CspB50TEV-Teriparatide by cycling the pH: the pH of the culture supernatant was adjusted to pH 5.0, and the precipitate was redissolved in a 1.0 M arginine solution of pH 8.0. The pH-driven precipitation–redissolution cycle with arginine was repeated three times. The observed color change was due to the removal of the pigments and other impurities through the precipitation–redissolution cycles in the presence of arginine [11] as arginine increases the solubilities of aromatic compounds [22] and insoluble aggregation-prone proteins [23]. Then, the obtained precipitate was redissolved in 20 mM Tris–HCl buffer (pH 8.0). As a result, CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was successfully isolated, whereas the impurities were removed by the arginine effect. Figure 3. 2B shows the RP-HPLC results of the initial culture supernatant and the final sample of isolated CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. The final isolated CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was eluted in a single peak around 19 min. In contrast, the culture supernatant exhibited various

peaks in addition to the 19 min peak associated with CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. Based on the quantitative RP-HPLC data, the yield of the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide isolation process was about 98.9%.



Fig. 3. 2. Isolation of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide by pH-driven precipitation–redissolution cycles. (A) Actual images of the samples over the precipitation–redissolution cycles. (B) RP-HPLC analysis of the initial sample, the culture supernatant (dotted line), and the final sample, isolated CspB50TEV-Teriparatide (solid line). A peak corresponding to CspB50TEV-Teriparatide is seen at a retention time of approximately 19 min.

Enzymatic digestion of CspB50TEV by TEV protease

In order to remove the CspB50 tag from Teriparatide, the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was treated with TEV protease. It is possible that the TEV sequence was not exposed to the surface of the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide; thus, urea was added to loosen the tertiary structure of the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide (i.e., unfold the protein) to improve the digestion efficiency (Figure 3. 3). The digestion efficiency was only 5% without the urea treatment but was improved with increasing urea concentrations (1–6 M), reaching 98% with the 6 M urea pretreatment.



Fig. 3. 3. SDS-PAGE analysis of the TEV protease digestion of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide into CspB50TEV and Teriparatide. The samples were pre-treated with various concentrations of urea before the digestion step.

Purification of Teriparatide

After enzymatic digestion, the solution contains Teriparatide, CspB50TEV, non-digested CspB50TEV-Teriparatide, and a small amount of TEV protease. At this point, the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide and CspB50TEV can be easily insolubilized by reducing the pH due to the pH-responsive behavior of the CspB tag. Figure 3. 4 shows the results of the SDS-PAGE analysis of the solution digested by TEV protease and adjusted to various pH values (pH 8.0, 6, 5, 4, and 3). The results show that most of the impurities, but not Teriparatide, were insolubilized in the enzymatic digestion solutions of pH <5.0. Interestingly, TEV protease was also insolubilized at acidic conditions due to the acid-induced aggregation. This was an unexpected but favorable effect that further facilitated the non-chromatographic purification. Accordingly, highly pure Teriparatide was easily obtained in the supernatant with minimal loss.



Fig. 3. 4. Purification of Teriparatide by pH changes. Teriparatide purification upon changing the pH of the solution following enzymatic digestion from 8.0 (i.e., the initial sample) to acidic pH values of 6–3 (i.e., the supernatants of pH-adjusted and centrifuged samples).

Evaluation of the purification steps and the final product

Figure 3. 5A shows the results of the SDS-PAGE analysis of the samples are different steps of the purification processes of Teriparatide from CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. The accumulation of the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was 3.0 g/L (equivalent to 1.2 g/L as Teriparatide) in the culture supernatant following secretory expression using *C. glutamicum* (lane 1). Using the pH-responsive properties of the CspB tag, the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was recovered from the culture supernatant by three precipitation–redissolution cycles with a final yield of 98.9% (lane 2). The sample was then treated with 6 M urea followed by the addition of a buffer and TEV protease. The enzymatic digestion yielded CspB50TEV, undigested CspB50TEV-Teriparatide, TEV protease, and Teriparatide with an efficiency of 97.6% (lane 3). The pH of the digested solution was then adjusted to 3.0 to insolubilize all components aside from Teriparatide. Finally, I obtained highly purified Teriparatide with a purity of 96.0% and a yield of 96.5%. The final productivity of the Teriparatide was 1.1 g/L of *C. glutamicum* culture.

In order to confirm the identity of the purified product, it was analyzed using a protein sequencer, MALDI-TOF-MS, and CD spectroscopy. The purified sample had the amino acid residues (SVSEIQLMHN) that were identical to the N-terminal sequence of Teriparatide. In addition, the purified sample had a mass of 4118.1 Da as measured by MALDI-TOF-MS, which is close to the theoretical mass (4117.7 Da) of Teriparatide. The far-UV CD spectrum of the purified sample was identical to that of the commercially available Teriparatide reference standard (Figure 3. 5B) with minima around 205 and 222 nm [24–28]. Although CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was treated by 6 M urea for 1 hour at enzymatic digestion process, the final urea concentration was adjusted to 0.5 M. Accordingly, it is naturally thought that Teriparatide can form an appropriate secondary structure during digestion process. Thus, it was concluded that the obtained protein was Teriparatide and that it retained the primary and tertiary structures associated with bioactive Teriparatide.



Fig. 3. 5. Evaluation of the effectiveness of the process and the obtained Teriparatide. (A) SDS-PAGE analysis of the samples obtained from the various stages in the protocol: culture supernatant with CspB50TEV-Teriparatide (lane 1), CspB50TEV-Teriparatide isolated via precipitation–redissolution cycles (lane 2), digested sample containing Teriparatide (lane 3), and acid-treated Teriparatide (lane 4). (B) Far-UV CD spectra

of a Teriparatide reference standard (dashed line) and the purified Teriparatide sample that was obtained experimentally (solid line).

3.4. Discussion

Here, I demonstrated a novel protocol for the purification of Teriparatide involving the expression of the CspB fusion protein, isolation of the CspB fusion protein, enzymatic digestion of the CspB tag, and purification of the target protein. The most valuable feature of this purification protocol is that it only requires pH adjustments and a pH meter and solid–liquid separation using a centrifuge.

The purification of fusion proteins is usually performed by chromatography, but chromatography can be expensive and time-consuming [2]. For example, the standard method for Teriparatide purification involves the expression of histidine-tagged Teriparatide in *Escherichia coli* cells followed by Ni-NTA chromatography [29–33]. After the fused tag is digested, ion-exchange chromatography and reverse-phase chromatography are used for further purification of the Teriparatide. This affinity-based process yields Teriparatide with a purity of 99.5% and productivity of 0.5 g Teriparatide/L of culture [31] and with a purity of 95.0% and productivity of 0.3 g Teriparatide/L of culture [29]. On the other hand, the non-chromatographic CspB-fusion technique proposed here is relatively simple and yields Teriparatide with a comparable final purity (98.0%) and productivity of 1.1 g Teriparatide /L of culture.

I have previously reported the versatility of the CspB tag as a pH-responsive purification tag for proinsulin (an insulin precursor) and a bivalirudin derivative [10]. Here, I demonstrated a non-chromatographic purification process that yields a tag-free protein. Moreover, various types of CspB fusion proteins can be created to achieve similar pH-responsive purification. However, the key to the purification process is the stability of the target protein denaturation in acidic condition. The CspB50TEV and TEV protease were insolubilized at pH <4.0 (Fig. 3. 4), and the Teriparatide alone remained soluble under the acidic pH. However, this characteristic cannot be guaranteed for all target proteins. Thus, only target proteins that are stable at pH 4.0 can be purified from the CspB fusion protein by the proposed non-chromatographic process. This condition is not so hard for various proteins, including monoclonal antibodies and peptide drugs.



Fig. 3. 6. Schematic of the proposed process for purifying intact target protein using a CspB tag.

Figure 3. 6 shows a schematic illustration of the purification process that can potentially be used to purify other intact target proteins using the CspB tag fusion system. The target protein with the CspB tag is expressed and secreted into the culture supernatant by *C. glutamicum*, which serves as a host cell (Step 1). The pH of the culture supernatant is then reduced by adding acid, thus insolubilizing the CspB fusion protein so it can be recovered as a precipitate by centrifugation (Step 2). After the supernatant is removed, the precipitated CspB fusion protein is redissolved in an alkaline solution (Step 3). The use of arginine as an additive in this solution and repeating the precipitation–redissolution cycle facilitate the removal of impurities. Next, the CspB fusion protein is digested by TEV protease, yielding the CspB tag and the target protein (Step 4). The pH is again lowered by adding acid to insolubilize the CspB fusion protein, CspB tag, and TEV protease (Step 5). Finally, the sample is centrifuged, and the supernatant contains the highly purified target protein (Step 6).

3.5. Conclusion

Here, I developed a novel purification system for Teriparatide involving the expression of the protein with a pH-responsive CspB tag by *C. glutamicum*, an isolation of the CspB fusion protein, an enzymatic digestion of the CspB tag, and a final purification of the target protein from the digested components. The advantage of this non-chromatographic protein-purification method is its simplicity at the precipitation–redissolution cycles are actuated by adjusting the pH. Moreover, there is potential for this protocol to be broadly applied for protein preparation on laboratory and industrial scales.

3.6. References

- [1] A.S. Pina, C.R. Lowe, A.C.A. Roque, Challenges and opportunities in the purification of recombinant tagged proteins, Biotechnol. Adv. 32 (2014) 366–381. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.12.001.
- M.E. Kimple, A.L. Brill, R.L. Pasker, Overview of affinity tags for protein purification: Affinity tags for protein purification, in: J.E. Coligan, B.M. Dunn, D.W. Speicher, P.T. Wingfield (Eds.), Curr. Protoc. Protein Sci., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2013: p. 9.9.1–9.9.23. doi:10.1002/0471140864.ps0909s73.
- X. Zhao, G. Li, S. Liang, Several affinity tags commonly used in chromatographic purification, J. Anal. Methods Chem. 2013 (2013) 1–8. doi:10.1155/2013/581093.
- [4] D.W. Wood, New trends and affinity tag designs for recombinant protein purification, Curr. Opin. Struct.
 Biol. 26 (2014) 54–61. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2014.04.006.
- [5] D.E. Meyer, A. Chilkoti, Purification of recombinant proteins by fusion with thermally-responsive polypeptides, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 1112–1115. doi:10.1038/15100.
- [6] M.R. Banki, L. Feng, D.W. Wood, Simple bioseparations using self-cleaving elastin-like polypeptide tags, Nat. Methods. 2 (2005) 659–662. doi:10.1038/nmeth787.
- [7] L. Bataille, W. Dieryck, A. Hocquellet, C. Cabanne, K. Bathany, S. Lecommandoux, B. Garbay, E. Garanger, Recombinant production and purification of short hydrophobic Elastin-like polypeptides with low transition temperatures, Protein Expr. Purif. 121 (2016) 81–87. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2016.01.010.
- [8] K. Trabbic-Carlson, D.E. Meyer, L. Liu, R. Piervincenzi, N. Nath, T. LaBean, A. Chilkoti, Effect of protein fusion on the transition temperature of an environmentally responsive elastin-like polypeptide: a role for surface hydrophobicity?, Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 17 (2004) 57–66. doi:10.1093/protein/gzh006.
- M. Chami, N. Bayan, J.L. Peyret, T. Gulik-Krzywicki, G. Leblon, E. Shechter, The S-layer protein of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* is anchored to the cell wall by its C-terminal hydrophobic domain, Mol. Microbiol. 23 (1997) 483–492.
- [10] T. Nonaka, N. Tsurui, T. Mannen, Y. Kikuchi, K. Shiraki, A new pH-responsive peptide tag for protein purification, Protein Expr. Purif. 146 (2018) 91–96. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2018.02.004.

- [11] S. Oki, T. Nonaka, K. Shiraki, Specific solubilization of impurities in culture media: Arg solution improves purification of pH-responsive tag CspB50 with Teriparatide, Protein Expr. Purif. 146 (2018) 85–90. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2018.02.001.
- [12] J.L. Peyret, N. Bayan, G. Joliff, T. Gulik-Krzywicki, L. Mathieu, E. Shechter, G. Leblon, Characterization of the cspB gene encoding PS2, an ordered surface-layer protein in *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, Mol. Microbiol. 9 (1993) 97–109.
- [13] Y. Matsuda, H. Itaya, Y. Kitahara, N.M. Theresia, E.A. Kutukova, Y.A.V. Yomantas, M. Date, Y. Kikuchi, M. Wachi, Double mutation of cell wall proteins CspB and PBP1a increases secretion of the antibody Fab fragment from *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, Microb. Cell Factories. 13 (2014) 56.
- [14] Y. Kikuchi, M. Date, H. Itaya, K. Matsui, L.-F. Wu, Functional analysis of the twin-arginine translocation pathway in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* ATCC 13869, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72 (2006) 7183–7192. doi:10.1128/AEM.01528-06.
- [15] M. Date, K. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Y. Kikuchi, High level expression of *Streptomyces mobaraensis* transglutaminase in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* using a chimeric pro-region from Streptomyces cinnamoneus transglutaminase, J. Biotechnol. 110 (2004) 219–226. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2004.02.011.
- [16] M. Umakoshi, T. Hirasawa, C. Furusawa, Y. Takenaka, Y. Kikuchi, H. Shimizu, Improving protein secretion of a transglutaminase-secreting *Corynebacterium glutamicum* recombinant strain on the basis of 13C metabolic flux analysis, J. Biosci. Bioeng. 112 (2011) 595–601. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2011.08.011.
- [17] Y. Kikuchi, H. Itaya, M. Date, K. Matsui, L.-F. Wu, Production of *Chryseobacterium proteolyticum* protein-glutaminase using the twin-arginine translocation pathway in *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 78 (2008) 67–74. doi:10.1007/s00253-007-1283-3.
- [18] M. Date, K. -i. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Y. Kikuchi, Production of native-type Streptoverticillium mobaraense transglutaminase in Corynebacterium glutamicum, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69 (2003) 3011–3014. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.5.3011-3014.2003.
- [19] Y. Kikuchi, M. Date, K. I. Yokoyama, Y. Umezawa, H. Matsui, Secretion of Active-Form *Streptoverticillium mobaraense* transglutaminase by *Corynebacterium glutamicum*: Processing of the

pro-transglutaminase by a cosecreted subtilisin-like protease from *Streptomyces albogriseolus*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69 (2003) 358–366. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.1.358-366.2003.

- [20] H. Itaya, Y. Kikuchi, Secretion of *Streptomyces mobaraensis* pro-transglutaminase by coryneform bacteria, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 78 (2008) 621–625. doi:10.1007/s00253-007-1340-y.
- [21] Y. Kikuchi, H. Itaya, M. Date, K. Matsui, L.-F. Wu, TatABC overexpression improves *Corynebacterium glutamicum* Tat-dependent protein secretion, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75 (2009) 603–607. doi:10.1128/AEM.01874-08.
- [22] A. Hirano, T. Arakawa, K. Shiraki, Arginine increases the solubility of coumarin: comparison with salting-in and salting-out additives, J. Biochem. (Tokyo). 144 (2008) 363–369. doi:10.1093/jb/mvn078.
- [23] K. Shiraki, M. Kudou, S. Fujiwara, T. Imanaka, M. Takagi, Biophysical effect of amino acids on the prevention of protein aggregation, J. Biochem. (Tokyo). 132 (2002) 591–595.
- [24] M. Pellegrini, M. Royo, M. Rosenblatt, M. Chorev, D.F. Mierke, Addressing the tertiary structure of human parathyroid hormone-(1-34), J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 10420–10427.
- [25] K. Kanaori, M. Takai, A.Y. Nosaka, Comparative study of chicken and human parathyroid hormone-(1-34)-peptides in solution with SDS, Eur. J. Biochem. 249 (1997) 878–885.
- [26] J.E. Zull, S.K. Smith, R. Wiltshire, Effect of methionine oxidation and deletion of amino-terminal residues on the conformation of parathyroid hormone. Circular dichroism studies, J. Biol. Chem. 265 (1990) 5671–5676.
- [27] U.C. Marx, K. Adermann, P. Bayer, W.G. Forssmann, P. Rösch, Solution structures of human parathyroid hormone fragments hPTH(1-34) and hPTH(1-39) and bovine parathyroid hormone fragment bPTH(1-37), Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 267 (2000) 213–220. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.1958.
- [28] G. Merutka, B.M. Murphy, R.W. Payne, G.A. Wilson, J.E. Matsuura, C.S. Henry, M.C. Manning, Stability of lyophilized Teriparatide, PTH(1-34), after reconstitution, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. Off. J. Arbeitsgemeinschaft Pharm. Verfahrenstechnik EV. 99 (2016) 84–93. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.11.012.
- [29] K.R. Oldenburg, A.L. D'Orfani, H.E. Selick, A method for the high-level expression of a parathyroid hormone analog in Escherichia coli, Protein Expr. Purif. 5 (1994) 278–284.

- [30] H. Hamedifar, F. Salamat, M. Saffarion, M. Ghiasi, A. Hosseini, H. Lahiji, Z. Nouri, H. Arfae, F. Mahboudi, A Novel approach for high level expression of soluble recombinant human parathyroid hormone (rhPTH 1-34) in *Escherichia coli*, Avicenna J. Med. Biotechnol. 5 (2013) 193–201.
- [31] Y. Suzuki, M. Yabuta, K. Ohsuye, High-level production of recombinant human parathyroid hormone 1-34, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64 (1998) 526–529.
- [32] W.L. Sung, B.S. Chan, C.K. Luk, D.M. Zahab, G.E. Willick, J.R. Barbier, R. Isaacs, S. Maclean, V. Ross,
 P. Morley, J.F. Whitfield, High-yield expression of fully bioactive N-terminal parathyroid hormone analog in *Escherichia coli*, IUBMB Life. 49 (2000) 131–135. doi:10.1080/15216540050022458.
- [33] C.O. Audu, J.C. Cochran, M. Pellegrini, D.F. Mierke, Recombinant production of TEV cleaved human parathyroid hormone, J. Pept. Sci. Off. Publ. Eur. Pept. Soc. 19 (2013) 504–510. doi:10.1002/psc.2528.

Chapter 4.

Effect of Small Additives for pH-Responsive Behavior of CspB Fusion Protein

4.1. Introduction

Protein purification process is complicated. In order to solve this problem, various type of purification tags have been developed so far [1–3]. Histidine tags are representative purification tags [4]. It has become possible to specifically purify the histidine tagged protein by specific interaction with nickel ions immobilized on the resin surface. However, the cost of the resin and the related equipment are the major cost on the industrial scale. In recent years, a new purification tag, CspB-tag that do not require resin, have been reported [5–7]. The CspB fusion protein has precipitation–redissolution properties in response to the pH of the solution. As a result, CspB fusion protein can be purified by simple pH adjustment and solid-liquid separation.

A certain concentration of salt is often added to the solution for the purpose of preventing nonspecific adsorption of the target protein to the purification instrument [8]. In addition, PPC has been reported as a method for precipitation and concentration of the proteins using a polymer electrolyte [9,10]. However, precipitation does not occur in the presence of salt. On the other hand, it has not been investigated whether the pH response of the CspB fusion protein is maintained even in the presence of various additives.

In this study, I investigated the effect of small additives on pH response of CspB fusion protein.

4.2. Materials and Methods

Preparation of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide

CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was expressed same way in Chapter 3, and then the 30 mL of culture supernatant was adjusted to pH 5.0 by adding a small amount of HCl to precipitate the CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. The sample was then centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min to pellet the precipitate. After the supernatant was removed,

the precipitate was redissolved by adding an equal volume of a 1.0 M arginine solution (pH 8.0) to supernatant as described previously [11]. This pH-driven precipitation–redissolution cycle with arginine was repeated three times. The obtained precipitate was finally redissolved to 1.0 mg/mL in 20 mM Tris–HCl buffer (pH 8.0).

Effect of small additives for pH-responsive behavior

Samples were prepared in which the concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was 0.5 mg / mL, and the concentration of each additive (NaCl, Na₂SO₄, Arg-HCl, urea, Gdn-HCl) was 0.5 M, respectively. The pH of the solution was adjusted to pH 4.0 by adding 2 M HCl to each sample, and then it was held at 25 °C for 1 hour. Each sample was centrifuged at 10000 g for 5 min, and the supernatant was subjected to 0.22 um filtration. The obtained filter permeate was subjected to RP-HPLC, and the concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide remaining in the supernatant of each sample was calculated. Based on this concentration, the precipitation ratio was calculated by the following calculation formula. The precipitation ratio [%] = (1 - concentration of supernatant [mg/mL] / 0.5 [mg/mL]) × 100.

Effect of denaturant for pH-responsive behavior

Samples were prepared in which the concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was 0.5 mg / mL, and the concentration of each denaturant (urea, Gdn-HCl) was 0-6 M, respectively. And then, far-UV CD spectra at each denaturant concentration was obtained. After that, the pH of the solution was adjusted to pH 4.0 by adding 2 M HCl to each sample, and then it was held at 25 °C for 1 hour. Each sample was centrifuged at 10000 g for 5 min, and the supernatant was subjected to 0.22 um filtration. The obtained filter permeate was subjected to RP-HPLC, and the concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide remaining in the supernatant of each sample was calculated. Based on this concentration, the precipitation ratio was calculated. On the other hand, these denaturants were removed from samples containing 6 M urea or Gdn-HCl using ultrafiltration membranes (molecular weight cut-off : 5 kDa). These renatured samples were subjected to the measurement of far-UV CD spectra. After that, by adding 2 M HCl to each sample and adjusting the pH to 4.0, the precipitation ratio was calculated in the same manner as described above.

4.3. Results

Effect of small additives for pH-responsive behavior

The effect of various additives on pH response of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was investigated. Various additives (NaCl, Na2SO4, Arg-HCl, urea, Gdn-HCl) were added to a final concentration of 0.5 M. Thereafter, the pH of the solution was adjusted from 8.5 to 4.0. The resulting aggregation was precipitated by centrifugation, and then the concentration of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide remaining in the centrifugal supernatant was quantified by subjecting to RP-HPLC analysis. As a result, no CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was detected in the centrifugal supernatant of any sample containing any additive tested. So, it was found that CspB50TEV-Teriparatide completely precipitated at pH4.0, even in the presence of each additives (Fig. 4. 1).



Fig. 4. 1. The effect of various additives on precipitation ratio of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide

Effect of denaturant for pH-responsive behavior

Next, by adding urea and Gdn-HCl known as a protein denaturant to a final concentration of 6 M, the relationship between pH response behavior and secondary structure of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was investigated. As a result, in the addition of urea, the precipitation ratio decreased at 3 M, and it appeared that the pH response of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was lost because no precipitate was formed at 4 M or more (Fig. 4. 2A). On the other hand, the results from the far-UV CD spectra, the secondary structure was lost as the urea concentration became higher, and almost the same CD spectrum was observed at 4 M or more (Fig. 4. 2C). A similar trend was observed when plotting 222 nm meaning the presence of α -helix (Fig. 4. 2E). Similarly, in

the addition of Gdn-HCl, the precipitation ratio decreased at 1 M, and it appeared that the pH response of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide was lost because no precipitate was formed at 4 M or more (Fig. 4. 2B). On the other hand, the far-UV CD spectra were significantly different in the presence of 1 M Gdn-HCl and the absence condition. The secondary structure was lost as the Gdn-HCl concentration became higher, and almost the same CD spectra was observed at 4 M or more (Fig. 4. 2D). A similar trend was observed when plotting 222 nm meaning the presence of α -helix (Fig. 4. 2F). In both denaturant treatment, pH response was lost at 4 M or more and at the same time the secondary structure was also disappeared. However, for urea and Gdn-HCl, the CD spectra at each denaturant concentration and the plot at 222 nm were significantly different.



Fig. 4. 2. Effect of denaturant for pH-responsive behavior of CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. (A, B) Precipitation ratio at pH4.0 in the presence of urea and Gdn-HCl, respectively. (C, D) Far-UV CD spectra at pH8.0 in the presence of urea and Gdn-HCl, respectively. (E, F) Plot at 222nm of far-UV-CD spectra at pH8.0 in the presence of urea and Gdn-HCl, respectively.

Next, it was investigated whether the pH response was restored by removing the denaturant by buffer exchange from denatured CspB50TEV-Teriparatide with 6 M Urea or Gdn-HCl. As a result, CspB50TEV-

Teriparatide in the renatured sample completely precipitated at pH 4.0 and pH response was restored. The secondary structure, which had been greatly reduced in the presence of 6 M denaturant, showed a similar CD spectra with original CspB50TEV-Teriparatide (Fig. 4. 3).



Fig. 4. 3. Comparison of pH-responsive behavior of original, denatured and renatured CspB50TEV-Teriparatide. (A, B) Precipitation ratio at pH4.0 of the original (0 M), denatured (6.0 M) and renatured (6.0 to 0 M) CspB50TEV-Teriparatide by urea and Gdn-HCl, respectively. (C, D) Far-UV CD spectra at pH8.0 of the original (0 M), denatured (6.0 M) and renatured (6.0 to 0 M) CspB50TEV-Teriparatide by urea and Gdn-HCl, respectively.

4.4. Discussion

For several additives that could coexist in the purification process, I examined the effect of CspB fusion protein on pH response. It was found that the pHresponse of the CspB fusion protein was not lost even in the presence of 0.5 M in the additives tested this time, so stable pH response was obtained. From the study using

a denaturant, the secondary structure and the pH response was lost under the high denaturant concentration. It was suggested that a specific secondary structure derived from CspB-tag is necessary to express the pH response. The pH response was restored after removal of the denaturant and its secondary structure also showed a far-UV CD spectra similar to the original one, suggests the importance of the specific secondary structure of CspB-tag.

It is interesting to show different far-UV CD spectra when urea and Gdn-HCl are used as denaturant. Especially in the presence of relatively low denaturant concentration of 1 to 3 M, CD spectra are largely different, showing own properties of each additive more than the denaturation effect, for example, as a salt of Gdn-HCl. By observing the pH response, secondary and tertiary structure in the presence of additives other than tested in this report, it is possible to elucidate the pH responsive mechanism of CspB-tag and become a more versatile technique.

4.5. Conclusion

Various salts that may be present in the purification process did not inhibit the pH response of the CspB fusion protein. The secondary structure is important to express pH response, and removal of the denaturant restored the lost secondary structure and pH response. From the results, it was found that purification of CspB fusion protein by precipitation–redissolution utilizing pH response can be stably performed.

4.6. References

- M.E. Kimple, A.L. Brill, R.L. Pasker, Overview of Affinity Tags for Protein Purification: Affinity Tags for Protein Purification, in: J.E. Coligan, B.M. Dunn, D.W. Speicher, P.T. Wingfield (Eds.), Curr. Protoc. Protein Sci., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2013: pp. 9.9.1-9.9.23. doi:10.1002/0471140864.ps0909s73.
- [2] D.W. Wood, New trends and affinity tag designs for recombinant protein purification, Curr. Opin. Struct.
 Biol. 26 (2014) 54–61. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2014.04.006.

- [3] X. Zhao, G. Li, S. Liang, Several Affinity Tags Commonly Used in Chromatographic Purification, J.
 Anal. Methods Chem. 2013 (2013) 1–8. doi:10.1155/2013/581093.
- K. Trabbic-Carlson, L. Liu, B. Kim, A. Chilkoti, Expression and purification of recombinant proteins from Escherichia coli: Comparison of an elastin-like polypeptide fusion with an oligohistidine fusion, Protein Sci. 13 (2009) 3274–3284. doi:10.1110/ps.04931604.
- [5] T. Nonaka, N. Tsurui, T. Mannen, Y. Kikuchi, K. Shiraki, A new pH-responsive peptide tag for protein purification, Protein Expr. Purif. 146 (2018) 91–96. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2018.02.004.
- [6] S. Oki, T. Nonaka, K. Shiraki, Specific solubilization of impurities in culture media: Arg solution improves purification of pH-responsive tag CspB50 with Teriparatide, Protein Expr. Purif. 146 (2018) 85–90. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2018.02.001.
- T. Nonaka, N. Tsurui, T. Mannen, Y. Kikuchi, K. Shiraki, Non-chromatographic purification of Teriparatide with a pH-responsive CspB tag, Protein Expr. Purif. 155 (2019) 66–71. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2018.11.008.
- [8] M.G. Cacace, E.M. Landau, J.J. Ramsden, The Hofmeister series: salt and solvent effects on interfacial phenomena, Q. Rev. Biophys. 30 (1997) 241–277.
- [9] T. Kurinomaru, K. Shiraki, Aggregative protein-polyelectrolyte complex for high-concentration formulation of protein drugs, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 100 (2017) 11–17. doi:10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.06.016.
- [10] T. Kurinomaru, T. Maruyama, S. Izaki, K. Handa, T. Kimoto, K. Shiraki, Protein-poly(amino acid) complex precipitation for high-concentration protein formulation, J. Pharm. Sci. 103 (2014) 2248–2254. doi:10.1002/jps.24025.

Chapter 5.

General discussion

Protein is a useful material owing to its functionality. Notably, the pharmaceutical application of protein is promised field. However, the complexity and high cost of purification process of protein is still an issue. In this thesis, I provide the knowledge of purification tag as the method of purifying the pharmaceutical protein. In this section, the overview, perspective and future study of this thesis are described.

The thermally responsive ELP-tag is known as a purification tag not requiring chromatography. I was able to develop a new pH-responsive CspB-tag as a first alternative of ELP-tag. It is known that native CspB forms an S-layer by self-organization, and covering the cell surface of microorganisms. It is quite interesting to be able to develop purification tags with pH response by using partial fragments of CspB. That is, it was suggested that it is possible to develop new purification tags from the protein which forms structures in nature, such as proteins of viral envelope or fragments thereof. Based on these points of view, it is expected that the research field of purification tags that become insoluble and solubilized in response to environmental changes will become more active.

Using the CspB fusion protein as a raw material, it was shown that the target protein can be obtained nonchromatographically through enzyme cleavage process. On the other hand, in the enzyme cleavage process, pretreatment with high concentration urea was necessary to improve cleavage efficiency. It is considered that the TEV sequence recognized by the cleavage enzyme was exposed by relaxing the structure of the entire CspB fusion protein. Likewise, it is conceivable that the structure of the target protein is relaxed, and the essential secondary structure and tertiary structure may be lost. In this report, a fusion protein (CspB50TEV-Teriparatide) linked with CspB-tag, TEV sequence and target protein is used, but add a flexible linker (e.g. 10 residues of Glycine) behind the CspB-tag sequence, it is thought that the TEV sequence will be exposed without urea pretreatment. As a result, it can be considered that it can be applied as a method for producing various proteins in which secondary structure or tertiary structure plays an important role. The mechanism of pH responsiveness of CspB-tag developed this time has not been elucidated at the moment. Since it responds to pH change, it is considered to be related to the charge state of the amino acids of the CspBtag. High concentration electrolytes (i.e. salts) were added to the solution for the purpose of inhibiting such interaction due to charging, but pH response of the CspB fusion protein was not lost. On the other hand, the CspB fusion protein denatured by denaturant lost pH response. I hope that by clarifying changes in secondary structure, tertiary structure, association state and pH response of CspB-tag.

Chapter 6.

General Conclusion

This thesis investigated the development of a new purification tag for protein purification. Chapter 2 describes a newly developed CspB-tag which insolubilizes-solubilizes in response to pH. In conclusion, CspB fragment was investigated as a pH-responsive tag for proinsulin, Teriparatide, and Bivalirudin. The advantages of the CspB tag are (i) full reversibility of the aggregated-state protein, (ii) pH responsivity centered around neutral pH, (iii) sharp pH responsivity within 0.5 pH units, (iv) versatility of application to pharmaceutical proteins at various pH values, and (v) utilization by a simple concentration method. Chapter 3 describes development of production process for pharmaceutical protein using CspB-tag. Here, I developed a novel purification system for Teriparatide involving the expression of the protein with a pH-responsive CspB tag by C. glutamicum, an isolation of the CspB fusion protein, an enzymatic digestion of the CspB tag, and a final purification of the target protein from the digested components. Chapter 4 describes an effect of small additive on the pH response behavior of CspB fusion protein. I hope that by clarifying changes in secondary structure, tertiary structure, association state and pH responsiveness in the presence of various additives, I can gradually elucidate the mechanism concerning pH response of CspB-tag. I believe that the pH-dependent reversible precipitation-redissolution response can be used for the purification of various proteins. And the advantage of this non-chromatographic protein-purification method is its simplicity at the precipitation-redissolution cycles are actuated by adjusting the pH. Moreover, there is potential for this protocol to be broadly applied for protein preparation on laboratory and industrial scales.

List of Publications

Related Publications

- <u>T. Nonaka</u>, N. Tsurui, T. Mannen, Y. Kikuchi, K. Shiraki, Non-chromatographic purification of Teriparatide by pH-responsive CspB tag, Protein Expr. Purif. 155 (2019) 66–71.
- <u>T. Nonaka</u>, N. Tsurui, T. Mannen, Y. Kikuchi, K. Shiraki, A new pH-responsive peptide tag for protein purification, Protein Expr. Purif. 146 (2018) 91–96.

Other Publications

- S. Oki, <u>T. Nonaka</u>, K. Shiraki, Specific solubilization of impurities in culture media: Arg solution improves purification of pH-responsive tag CspB50 with Teriparatide, Protein Expr. Purif. 146 (2018) 85–90.
- <u>T. Nonaka</u>, T. Mannen, N. Tsurui, [Method for producing protein by precipitation], WO2014/126260 A1 (21. 08. 2014)

Acknowledgement

This dissertation has been conducted at the University of Tsukuba and could not be completed without any support. I would like to thank to all of the people involved my work during this doctoral program.

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the chief examiner of my thesis, Professor Kentaro shiraki (University of Tsukuba). He has been continually supportive and understanding of my work. I am especially grateful for his countless hours of consultation and the freedom to explore many of my own interests during this work.

I am deeply indebted to Professor Muneaki Hase (University of Tsukuba), Associate professor Hideaki Kano (University of Tsukuba), Associate professor Yoshiteru Hashimoto (University of Tsukuba) and Group manager Ryoji Kurita (AIST) for fruitful and sincere insight from wide range of background.

I would also like to thank the members of Professor Shiraki group member and alumni---Dr. Shunsuke Yoshizawa, Mr kazuki Iwashita, Ms. Ayumi Matsuda, Mr. Takumi Miyatake. Mr Shogo Oki, Mr. Akihiro Endo, Mr. Hong Teahun, Ms. Chika Shibata, Mr. Masahiro Mimura, Mr Tomoto Ura, Mr. Suguru Nishinami, Mr.Keisuke Tsumura, Mr.Yoshiki Kihara and Mr.Yoshihiro Nakauchi. I'll never forget the time spent here.

I also thank the members of Ajinomoto Co., Inc.--- especially Dr. Yoshimi Kikuchi, Dr. Teruhisa Mannen, Mr. Hiroshi Ueda, Dr Kazushige Ohmori, Dr. Hiroyuki Nozaki, for giving me the opportunity to obtain a degree.

Last but not least, I would like to offer my special thanks to my wife Sayaka for her support and to my daughters Akari and Hinata encouraged me with a smile throughout my research and my life.

Takahiro Nonaka

February 2019